1957

Gordon C. McGavin v. Preferred Insurance Exchange et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(a) *Preliminary Statement*

This is an appeal from a judgment of dismissal of the action entered by the District Court of Salt Lake County, Utah, on May 29, 1957, in civil No. 106,957 (R. 44-45). The motion to dismiss the amended complaint was filed by

defendants and respondents herein (R. 38). Preferred Underwriters, Inc., the attorney-in-fact for Preferred Insurance Exchange, is a foreign corporatoin which never has qualified to do business in Utah (R. 17, 33). No service of process has been obtained on said foreign corporation, and it is not one of the respondents on this appeal.

The motion to dismiss the amended complaint was based on the allegation that the said amended complaint "does not state any facts or grounds upon which relief can be granted against these defendants or any of them." (R. 38). The District Court furnished no explanation as a basis for granting the motion to dismiss.

(b) *The Amended Complaint*

The prime question to be determined on this appeal is whether the amended complaint states facts upon which relief can be granted against the defendants and respondents or any of them. We set forth the entire amended complaint, except for the title of the action (R. 28-32):

"The plaintiff comes now by leave of court first had and obtained, and files this amended complaint, whereby plaintiff complains against defendants and for cause of action alleges:

"1. Defendant Preferred Insurance Exchange, now is and was at all times herein mentioned, a reciprocal insurance exchange, unincorporated, transacting business through and under its attorney-in-fact, Preferred Underwriters, Inc., a corporation not organized under the laws of the State of Utah. During the times herein-after mentioned, said Preferred Insurance Exchange has engaged in business in the State of Utah through

state, district and local agents, writing automobile and liability insurance.

"2. Defendant Preferred Underwriters, Inc., in addition to acting as attorney-in-fact for Preferred Insurance Exchange, since about January, 1955 has been engaged in business in the State of Utah as a general insurance agency for writing of fire insurance and other insurance. Said Preferred Underwriters, Inc., has never qualified to do business in the State of Utah as a foreign corporation.

"3. Defendants Wayne Murray and Wayne Murray, Jr., were at all times herein mentioned, a co-partnership engaged in the insurance business as Murray & Company. Defendant Wayne Murray, Jr., was at all times herein mentioned the president and general manager of Preferred Insurance Exchange, and also the president and general manager of Preferred Underwriters, Inc., a foreign corporation.

"4. Defendant Utah Motor Club, Inc., now is and was at all times herein mentioned, a corporation of Utah. Defendant Sam Arge was at all times herein mentioned, general manager of said Utah Motor Club, Inc.

"5. On or about January 20, 1955, Preferred Underwriters, Inc., as attorney-in-fact for Preferred Insurance Exchange, by written instrument appointed Paul J. Parish, of Montebello, California, as state agent in Utah for Preferred Insurance Exchange. Preferred Underwriters, Inc., also appointed Paul J. Parish as state agent in Utah to write fire insurance and other insurance. Wayne Murray and Wayne Murray, Jr., doing business as Murray & Company, also appointed Paul J. Parish as state agent in Utah to write life insurance and other insurance. Said defendants instructed Paul J. Parish to set up an office in Utah and to appoint such agents as said Parish deemed essential to establish an

organization through which automobile, casualty, fire, liability, life and other insurance could be sold in the State of Utah.

“6. On or about March 10, 1955, said Paul J. Parish, state agent for said defendants, entered into agreement with plaintiff whereby plaintiff was appointed an agent for Preferred Insurance Exchange and an agent for Preferred Underwriters, Inc., in Utah, and plaintiff was also appointed acting state agent to assist said Paul J. Parish in the management of the state agency for Preferred Insurance Exchange and for Preferred Underwriters, Inc. Paul J. Parish promised that plaintiff would be paid the regular agent's commission on all policies sold directly by him and also receive a share of the overriding commissions on all insurance sold in the State of Utah for Preferred Insurance Exchange, until the plaintiff received \$1,000.00 per month. Said Paul J. Parish told plaintiff that plaintiff would have an opportunity for permanent employment at a substantial income.

“7. Said defendants were informed of said appointment and employment, and about April 1955, defendants Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, Inc., approved and acquiesced in said appointment and employment of plaintiff as an agent for said companies and as acting state agent in Utah. Said defendants instructed plaintiff to procure state licenses from the State of Utah to sell automobile and fire insurance, which plaintiff did; and said two defendants told plaintiff to proceed to appoint district and local agents, and said defendants promised to file with the State Insurance Department a power of attorney authorizing him to appoint agents. Said defendants also promised: (a) To furnish promptly to plaintiff advertising matter to start a sales campaign; (b) to promptly file with the State Insurance Department, all necessary rate schedules essential to meet competitors, to enable

plaintiff and local agents to obtain a substantial volume of business; (c) to file any other documents which might be essential to carry on a diversified insurance business in Utah; (d) to furnish plaintiff without delay assistance in the training of agents for selling insurance; and (e) to give plaintiff such further assistance as would be necessary to build up a state organization in Utah to assure Paul J. Parish and plaintiff a good volume of business and a substantial income.

"8. Said defendants further told plaintiff that he should not concern himself with quotas in Utah for the time being, nor be too much concerned about selling policies himself, but that he should direct his chief efforts to finding suitable agents, to help train agents, to take care of administrative work, to conduct investigations requested by said defendants, and to make other contacts deemed essential by defendants to promote good public relations. Defendants told plaintiff that he would make a substantial income out of overriding commissions from future business in Utah, and that notwithstanding some time would elapse before such income would be obtained, as the program was a long range program, he would obtain a much greater income than if he spent his time selling.

"9. Plaintiff relied on the promises of said Preferred Insurance Exchange, Preferred Underwriters, Inc., and Murray & Company, and plaintiff traveled through the State at his own expense to find suitable agents for Preferred Insurance Exchange, and said defendants recognized said agents so appointed. Plaintiff conducted all of the investigations requested by said defendants, made all of the contacts requested by defendants, and performed all other administrative duties assigned to him between April and October 1955, all at his own expense.

"10. Said defendants failed and neglected to perform their promises as set forth in paragraph 7 hereof: (a)

Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, Inc., as attorney-in-fact for Preferred Insurance Exchange, sent advertising material which was false and misleading, in that said advertising material represented that Preferred Insurance Exchange offered lower rates than competitors, when in fact some rates were higher; and notwithstanding plaintiff informed defendants that said material was having an adverse effect in Utah, said defendants did not make any new advertising material available until September 1955, just prior to time Preferred Underwriters, Inc., appointed Utah Motor Club, Inc., state agent for Preferred Insurance Exchange. (b) Said defendants did not file any competitive rate schedules until July 1955, nor until plaintiff conducted the investigations requested by said defendants. (c) Said defendants delayed until September 1955, the sending of any representative to Utah to give assistance in a sales training program. (d) Said defendants neither filed a power of attorney for plaintiff, nor filed the necessary documents essential to qualify Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, Inc., to engage in business in Utah. (e) Instead of giving plaintiff assistance essential to help build a state organization in Utah to assure Paul J. Parish and plaintiff a good volume of business and a substantial income, after learning that plaintiff had contacted Utah Motor Club, Inc., in an effort to appoint said corporation a district agent, said Preferred Insurance Exchange, Preferred Underwriters, Inc., and Murray & Company, without the consent of plaintiff and without the consent of Paul J. Parish, entered into an agreement with Utah Motor Club, Inc., and Sam Arge, whereby Utah Motor Club, Inc., on or about September 28, 1955, was appointed state agent in Utah for Preferred Insurance Exchange by Preferred Underwriters, Inc., notwithstanding Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, Inc., and Murray and Company promised plaintiff that no deal would be made

with Utah Motor Club, Inc., except one which would be satisfactory to plaintiff. (f) Said defendants also procured from plaintiff the list of contacts of insurance prospects from plaintiff in October 1955, for the purpose of giving the same to Utah Motor Club, Inc., to enable Utah Motor Club, Inc., to reap benefits from the efforts of the plaintiff. (g) Said defendants Preferred Insurance Exchange, Preferred Underwriters, Inc., and Murray & Company, in September 1955, induced plaintiff to go to the expense and take the time necessary to arrange for a meeting of all district and local agents, on the promise that he was going to have a substantial income from his position, while at the same time said defendants were negotiating behind the back of plaintiff to deprive plaintiff of present and future compensation by way of overriding commissions which said defendants had promised, and to transfer the business over to Utah Motor Club, Inc., without compensation to plaintiff whatsoever.

"II. Plaintiff was given no notice of termination of his employment, nor any compensation for his services. By the acts of the defendants they made it impossible for Paul J. Parish to perform his agreement with plaintiffs, notwithstanding Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, Inc., and Murray & Company approved said appointment made by Paul J. Parish and induced plaintiff to perform services for seven months. In October 1955, said defendants falsely represented that Paul J. Parish had resigned as state agent, and that plaintiff should contact Sam Arge of Utah Motor Club, Inc. Thereupon, about November 1, 1955, Utah Motor Club, Inc., informed plaintiff that it had been appointed state agent in place of Paul J. Parish, and that the only way plaintiff would be allowed to sell insurance was to sell to people who would buy membership in Utah Motor Club, Inc. In November 1955 the State Insurance Department advised plaintiff that he could not sell insurance under such a plan

as said arrangement was unauthorized by the State and said plan was illegal. Plaintiff was thereby hindered and prevented from performing any further services for said defendants by their own acts.

"12. By said acts of defendant companies they repudiated their agreement with plaintiff whereby they induced plaintiff to render various services in building up a state organization on the promise of substantial overriding commissions in the future, although plaintiff performed in good faith for more than seven months the service required of him, to his damage in the sum of \$10,000.00. In addition to cutting off the means of receiving said overriding commissions, to completely deprive the plaintiff of the fruits of his labors, Preferred Insurance Exchange paid the balance of his regular commissions to Utah Motor Club, Inc. Plaintiff alleges that by their conduct defendants manifested an intention to deprive plaintiff of not only the fruits of his labors, but to devise a scheme to have him work without compensation, and that it would be appropriate to assess punitive damages against defendants in the sum of \$25,000.

"WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays judgment against defendants in the sum of \$10,000.00 actual damages, for \$25,000.00 exemplary damages, for an accounting on commissions and overriding commissions, for costs and other appropriate relief."

STATEMENT OF POINTS ON WHICH APPELLANT RELIES FOR REVERSAL OF THE JUDGMENT

1. A motion to dismiss admits the truth of the allegation of the pleading which it assails.
2. The amended complaint states facts which show that

plaintiff is entitled to recover at least for services performed during a seven months' period and for expenses incurred in connection therewith at the instance and request of Preferred Insurance Exchange.

3. Preferred Underwriters, Inc., a noncomplying foreign corporation, attorney-in-fact for Preferred Insurance Exchange, is not an indispensable party to this action.

4. All of the defendants are liable in tort for unconscionable dealings behind the back of plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

I.

A MOTION TO DISMISS ADMITS THE TRUTH OF THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE PLEADING WHICH IT ASSAILS.

In the case of *Fargo Glass & Paint Co. v. Globe American Corp.*, 161 F. 2d 811, the Court of Appeals held that the facts alleged in the pleading are admitted by the motion to dismiss. "If the plaintiff is entitled to any relief under these facts, the motion to dismiss should have been overruled. Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 8 (a) 28 U. S. C. A. following section 723 c; *Guth v. Texas Co.*, 7 Cir., 155 F. 2d 563."

II.

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT STATES FACTS WHICH SHOW THAT PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER AT LEAST FOR SERVICES PERFORMED DUR-

ING A SEVEN MONTHS' PERIOD AND FOR EXPENSES INCURRED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH AT THE INSTANCE AND REQUEST OF PREFERRED INSURANCE EXCHANGE.

This is *not* a case where an agent was employed on a commission basis with unlimited opportunity in a given territory, and given the necessary tools to work with as an agent, and then the relation of principal and agent was terminated. This is a case where plaintiff was appointed agent and also state manager for a reciprocal insurance exchange which was just getting started in Utah. Said insurer and its attorney-in-fact not only approved his appointment as agent, but gave directions to him to perform various services for said insurer, to appoint and train other agents, make various contacts, perform administrative work and other things for said insurer, on the promise that he would be compensated by overriding commissions on a substantial volume of future business. In this case the insurer discouraged the plaintiff from spending very much time writing insurance, and induced him to spend approximately seven months to build up a sales organization; and after plaintiff performed those services at his own expense, the insurer and its attorney-in-fact made it impossible for him to reap the fruits of his labors by turning the state agency and its management over to Utah Motor Club, Inc., which plaintiff previously had contacted with a view of making it a district agency.

The appropriate rule applicable to the fact situation of this case is stated in *Beebe v. Columbia Axle Co.*, 233 Mo. App. 212, 117 S. W. 2d 624, at 629:

“The limitation is that, in case of an indefinite agency where it is revoked by the principal, if it appears that the agent, induced by his appointment, has in good faith incurred expense and devoted time and labor in the matter of the agency without having had a sufficient opportunity to recoup such from the undertaking, the principal will be required to compensate him in that behalf; for the law will not permit one thus to deprive another of value without awarding just compensation. The just principle acted upon by the courts in the circumstances suggested requires no more than that, in every instance, the agent shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to avail himself of the primary expenditures and efforts put forth to the end of executing the authority conferred upon him and that, if such opportunity is denied him, the principal shall compensate him accordingly.”

The foregoing rule was quoted and adopted in the case of *Fargo Glass & Paint Co. v. Globe American Corporation*, 161 F. 2d 811. The court adopted the Missouri rule to the effect that an orally appointed agent for an indefinite time, who, induced by his appointment, has in good faith incurred expenses and devoted time and labor to the agency without having had sufficient opportunity to recoup, is entitled to compensation therefor from his principal. In the Fargo case, “The defendant says it may cancel the contract with impunity.” The Court of Appeals held otherwise.

It was argued in the District Court that plaintiff was appointed by Paul J. Parish, and that plaintiff should look to Parish for compensation. The amended complaint shows that Preferred Underwriters, Inc., appointed Parish state agent, and directed him to appoint other agents and to build up a state organization. Furthermore, the amended complaint shows

that *after* plaintiff was appointed an agent for Preferred Insurance Exchange and acting state manager, said Preferred Insurance Exchange and its attorney-in-fact *approved* said appointment and gave instructions and directions to the plaintiff. Said two companies instructed him to appoint other agents and train agents which he did, and said companies recognized the agents so appointed.

In *Hall v. Douglas Aircraft Co.*, (Cal. App.), 73 P. 2d 668 (hearing denied by Supreme Court), it was pointed out that where a principal ratifies the appointment of a subagent and gives directions to the subagent in conducting negotiations, the principal constitutes such subagent its own agent. Furthermore, the court held in that case that the principal could not defeat the right to compensation on a contingent basis by wiping out the margin or "differential" on which the contingent compensation was to be computed. The District Court of Appeal held that the agent was entitled to reasonable value of his services under such circumstances.

In the case of *Hoyt v. Wasatch Homes, Inc.*, 1 Utah 2nd 9, 261 P. 2d 927, this Honorable Court recognized the basic rule that a principal who agrees that commission shall be paid only on a consummated sale, contemplates the duty of the principal to cooperate in good faith toward the consummation of a sale, and that the principal cannot defeat the right of the agent to compensation by arbitrarily refusing to cooperate.

Restatement of the Law, Agency, Chapter 14, deals with duties of the principal to the agent. There are a number of significant obligations of the principal for fair dealing with an agent:

"A principal is subject to a duty to an agent to perform the contract which he has made with the agent." (Page 1000).

"A principal has a duty not to repudiate or terminate the employment in violation of the contract of employment." (Page 1060).

"If the compensation of the agent is dependent upon his accomplishment of a result and this result can be accomplished only if the principal cooperates, the principal's promise to give such cooperation is inferred unless there are manifestations to the contrary." (Page 1002).

"Except where the relationship of the parties, the triviality of the services, or other circumstances indicate that the parties have agreed otherwise, it is inferred that one who requests or permits another to perform services for him as his agent promises to pay for them." (Page 1027).

"A principal for whom an agent has performed services in accordance with a voidable contract which is avoided by one of the parties, or for whom an agent or purported agent has performed services without a promise by the principal to pay, is subject to liability to the agent to the extent that he has been unjustly enriched by such services." (Page 1077).

"A principal is subject to liability to an agent for his own conduct as he is to third persons for similar conduct . . ." (Page 1104).

". . . Correlative with the duties of the agent to serve loyally and obediently are the principal's duties of compensation, indemnity, and protection. . . . In addition, the principal is subject to liability to the agent, as to any third person, for conduct which would be tortious aside from the relationship, and is subject to quasi-contractual liability if he is unjustly enriched at the agent's expense." (Page 999).

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