1957

## Gordon C. McGavin v. Preferred Insurance Exchange et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT VIOLATES RULE 8(a) and 8(e) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

### POINT II

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE GROUNDS FOR RELIEF IN CONTRACT.

### POINT III

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE GROUNDS FOR RELIEF IN TORT.

### POINT IV

APPELLANT’S AUTHORITIES ARE NOT IN POINT.

## POINT V

THIS IS NOT A CASE OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT.

## POINT VI

THE STATEMENTS IN APPELLANT'S BRIEF PERTAINING TO A FOREIGN CORPORATION ARE IRRELEVANT.

## POINT VII

APPELLANT'S AMENDED COMPLAINT CONTAINS NO BASIS FOR AN AWARD OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT VIOLATES RULE 8(a) and 8(e) (1) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Rule 8(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the complaint shall contain "(1) a short and plain statement of the claim, showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled." Rule 8(e) (1) states: "Each averment of a pleading shall be simple, concise and direct." A reading of the amended complaint shows it to be a glaring violation of those Rules.

The complaint, repeated in full in appellant's brief, there takes up about seven pages, and is anything but a short, simple or a plain statement of the claim. It contains a demand for judgment wholly inconsistent with the statement of any claim, whatever that claim may be, set forth in the complaint. The amended complaint, like appellant's brief, consists mostly of accusations, opinions, narration of evidentiary material and conversations.

The most that can be gleaned from the amended complaint (TR. 28-32) in the way of essential allegations to establish a claim is that defendants Preferred Insurance Exchange and Murray & Company appointed one Paul J. Parrish as state agent in Utah to write insurance, with instructions to appoint such agents "as he deemed essential to establish an organization through which insurance could be sold." Parrish then appointed plaintiff as agent for Preferred Insurance Exchange and to assist Mr. Parrish in the management of the state agency for the Exchange. It should be noted that the complaint does not aver Mr. Parrish had any authority from the defendants to appoint plaintiff as such assistant, but only as an insurance agent. The complaint is silent as to the other defendants' part in the appointment of Mr. Parrish or plaintiff, and those defendants, therefore, had nothing to do with said appointment.

Paragraph 6 of said complaint, together with paragraph 12, contains the only reference in the complaint to any method or agreement as to plaintiff's compensation for his work, efforts and expenditures allegedly performed or incurred by plaintiff. In said paragraph 6 it is stated that Mr. Parrish promised "that plaintiff would be paid



the regular agent's commission on all policies sold directly by him and also receive a share of the overriding commissions on all insurance sold in Utah for Preferred Insurance Exchange." Mr. Parrish allegedly told plaintiff that he would also have an opportunity for permanent employment at a substantial income, whatever that has to do with this lawsuit. The type of payment set forth in paragraph 6 just quoted, namely, commissions, is customary for an insurance agent. The complaint does not indicate plaintiff had any right to look to any other source of payment from defendants for his work or expenditures.

Contrary to what appellant's brief infers, the amended complaint does not state a valid claim for payment of expenses or for work performed pursuant to any agency established by any defendant. The complaint does not set forth any amounts due for those items, and does not even ask for such payment. In paragraph 12 of the complaint plaintiff alleges that "By said acts (whatever that includes) defendant companies repudiated their agreement with plaintiff whereby they induced plaintiff to render various services in building up a state organization on the promise of substantial commissions in the future . . . to his damage in the sum of \$10,000.00." Such an allegation cannot be considered a prayer for compensation or reimbursement for work or expenditures, but is apparently a demand for damage payment for some wrongful act in the nature of tort, supposedly committed by defendants. The nature of this demand becomes apparent from a study of the remaining parts of the complaint, wherein plaintiff avers the defendants wrongfully prevented him from continuing as an insurance agent for defendants. Plaintiff asked for \$10,000.00 "general dam-



ages” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 26). Furthermore, respondents are unable to tell from the complaint wherein their conduct was legally wrongful.

Respondents have presented the above analysis of the subject complaint partly to see whether it meets the requirements of said Rule 8 of our Civil Procedure. Please note that Rule 8(a) and (e) are not in the alternative. The pleading must be plain, simple, concise *and* direct. Appellant’s amended complaint is none of these. That is one reason it fails to state a legal claim.

In a federal case from the U. S. Court of Appeals, District of Columbia, *Renshaw vs. Renshaw*, 153 Fed. 2d 310, the lower court granted, without prejudice, a motion to dismiss the complaint, the motion being partly on the ground that the pleading failed to state a claim, and partly that some of its averments were not simple, concise and direct as required by Rule 8(e). The order granted the motion without comment. The allegations were more specific than in the present case. In affirming the judgment of dismissal the appellate court announced:

“The complaint itself was fourteen printed pages, of the size and style customary in printing joint appendices to briefs in this court, and the seven exhibits attached thereto were another seventeen printed pages. The dismissal, without prejudice, of a complaint upon the basis of Rule 8(e) (1) is largely within the discretion of the trial court. We will not disturb its action unless we find clear error. We find none here.”

## POINT II

THE AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT  
STATE GROUNDS FOR RELIEF IN CONTRACT.

Let us further examine the complaint. Does it set forth the requirements of a binding contract and a cause of action against defendants for its breach? Where is the consideration moving from plaintiff? There is none. For all that appears in the complaint, plaintiff had no obligation as an agent; gave nothing for his appointment as agent, and could refuse to act or could resign at any time with impunity. The alleged agency was for an indefinite period. It could be cancelled by either plaintiff or defendant at any time. If the supposed agreement was not to be completed within a year, it violated the Statute of Frauds.

Paragraph 7 of the complaint contains a long list of alleged "promises" of defendant Preferred Insurance Exchange which, according to paragraph 10, were all broken by "said defendants," whatever party that may be. But there were no legally enforceable promises to break. Plaintiff gave no consideration for any such promises. The complaint does not even allege plaintiff suffered damage from a "violation" of any of these so-called promises. In paragraph 8 of the complaint it cannot be ascertained which of "said defendants" allegedly told plaintiff the various things there set forth, because paragraph 7 refers specifically to "promises" of Preferred Insurance Exchange and Preferred Underwriters, and paragraph 8 seems to be a continuation of the narration in paragraph 7. Furthermore, paragraph 8, like 7, does not indicate that plaintiff had any right to expect payment for his services from a

source other than sales commissions; and neither paragraph discloses any contractual duty owed plaintiff by defendants.

Paragraph 9 of the amended complaint alleges among other things that plaintiff appointed state agents, while paragraph 10 complains that plaintiff did not have the power of attorney necessary to make such appointments. Why should plaintiff reasonably incur expense in appointing agents until he had such authority? While paragraph 9 refers to other general, somewhat vague services allegedly performed by plaintiff, none of those services is made the basis of any legal claim by plaintiff in the amended complaint. The only paragraph referring to any "damages," number 12, speaks of "various services" rendered by plaintiff "in building up a state organization," whatever such various services were. The complaint does not ask anything for, nor place any value on, such services, and an essential element for such a claim therefore is absent. In paragraph 12 the figure of \$10,000.00 is given as damages but on what account or theory, escapes these respondents. That figure is one generously plucked from the air. At page 26 of appellant's brief is another reference to this figure of \$10,000.00 as "general damages."

### POINT III

#### THE AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE GROUNDS FOR RELIEF IN TORT.

Appellant's brief attempts to construct some "facts," or more truly, arguments, on which to base a claim for a tort. The complaint gives no grounds for any relief on such theory. The statements made in appellant's brief

are immaterial to a consideration of that point as well as the other points raised by the subject appeal. See, for instance, the arguments, conclusions and unfounded charges set forth at pages 12, 16 through 20, and 24 through 26 of said brief. Such matter has no proper place in this appeal. The court must consider only what is alleged in the amended complaint.

According to the complaint, the tortious conduct of the defendants supposedly arose from certain dealings between defendants and Utah Motor Club and its manager, Sam Arge, whereby the Motor Club was made a state insurance agent in place of Paul Parrish. The complaint fails to show by what legal right plaintiff could object to such a transaction. Where is shown the duty of defendants not so to deal with Utah Motor Club? If anyone had the right to complain, it would be Parrish, who is not even a party to this lawsuit. Clearly Utah Motor Club, Inc. and Sam Arge owed no duty to plaintiff to refrain from the new agency arrangement and cannot be held for causing any breach of a contract which was terminable at the will of either party, and to which plaintiff was not even a party or a third party beneficiary. Obviously the other defendants cannot be liable to plaintiff on a tort theory or otherwise for terminating Parrish's contract and making one with the Motor Club. Defendants needed no consent of plaintiff to do that. The complaint does not even state that the new arrangement was unsatisfactory to plaintiff, or resulted in any termination of plaintiff's employment.

A significant point not only as to this tort theory advanced in appellant's brief, but as to any claim based

on contract, express or implied, is that defendants did not terminate plaintiff's agency relationship. What did end plaintiff's employment, according to the complaint itself, is the condition added by the Motor Club *after* it had been appointed state agent, to the effect that plaintiff could sell insurance only to club members, under an arrangement which was "illegal." The complaint does not allege or show that the making of such condition was authorized, approved or ratified by either of the other defendants, respondents here, Preferred Insurance Exchange or Murray & Company. They had no part in it.

#### POINT IV

#### APPELLANT'S AUTHORITIES ARE NOT IN POINT.

The cases presented by appellant to support his theory as to reimbursement for services performed and expenses incurred are not in point. Respondents have no quarrel with the principles announced in such decisions, but respectfully submit that the facts therein presented are far from our situation. In each case listed under Point II of the argument in appellant's brief, the complaint clearly sets forth the services and expenses performed and incurred, and the value placed on each item by the plaintiff; and further, the complaint contains a clear demand for judgment for those amounts. The plaintiff, in those decisions, made a binding agreement to perform as agent and clearly had authority to incur the particular expenses. In the case of *Hall v. Douglas Aircraft Co.*, (Cal. App.), 73 P. 2d 668, cited on p. 14 of appellant's brief, the plaintiff agent performed work that led to the sale of the par-



ticular airplanes he was appointed to sell. In the Utah case of *Hoyt v. Wasatch Homes, Inc.*, 1 Utah 2d 9, 261 P. 2d 927, also cited in appellant's brief, the agent's complaint set forth a value for his services, based on an agreed commission, and the demand of the complaint was for judgment for that amount. In that decision the agent performed the work agreed upon in obtaining a prospective purchaser of the property. In all of the cases cited by appellant, the defendant principal terminated the agency contract, such fact was set forth in the complaint, and its causal connection with the failure of the agent to receive compensation or reimbursement prayed for in the complaint was well defined in the pleadings. Furthermore, each of those cases was concerned with an enforceable, clearly stated contract relationship, with certain mutual obligations of the parties well outlined in the pleadings. Such is not the condition of the complaint now before this court.

The quotations from the *Restatement of the Law, Agency, Chapter 14*, presented on pages 14 and 15 of appellant's brief, are likewise not in point. The amended complaint does not set forth facts to bring it within any situation contemplated in the *Restatement of Law*.

Appellant's whole argument to sustain Point II of his brief, wherein he claims he is entitled to some compensation or reimbursement, appears to be an afterthought. His complaint does not present any justifiable grounds for that argument. The matters presented by appellant under that point are outside the bounds of the amended complaint which defendants' motion attacks, and their presentation in the brief is highly irregular.

## POINT V

THIS IS NOT A CASE OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT.

Appellant's amended complaint as well as his brief contains some references indicating a theory for relief against defendants on the grounds of unjust enrichment. For instance, paragraph 10 of the complaint states that defendants "procured from plaintiff the list of contacts of insurance prospects . . . for the purpose of giving the same to Utah Motor Club, Inc. to enable it to reap benefits from the efforts of the plaintiff." (Plaintiff's complaint does not charge that defendants obtained said list wrongfully.) Said paragraph further alleges that defendants were negotiating "to deprive plaintiff of present and future compensation by way of overriding commissions. . . ." The complaint, at most, accuses defendants of an intention to obtain some benefit from the alleged acts, but does not state any defendant received such benefit, and the prayer of the complaint has nothing to do with the theory of unjust enrichment.

## POINT VI

THE STATEMENTS IN APPELLANT'S BRIEF PERTAINING TO A FOREIGN CORPORATION ARE IRRELEVANT.

At pages 20 through 23 of his brief appellant brings up the point that Preferred Underwriters, Inc. is a non-complying corporation. At no time has any defendant raised a defense that Preferred Insurance Exchange is immune from liability. The motion of defendants to dis-



miss the complaint is not based in any respect on that ground, and defendants did not raise that point in argument before the lower court. Furthermore, none of the defendants is attempting to enforce any contract in this lawsuit, and appellant's amended complaint does not allege liability or seek to enforce a claim against defendants on the ground that a defendant has failed to qualify to do business in Utah. Respondents are unable to see in what way said Point III of appellant's brief is relative to this appeal.

## POINT VII

### APPELLANT'S AMENDED COMPLAINT CONTAINS NO BASIS FOR AN AWARD OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

Respondents take the position that appellant has no claim for punitive damages, first, because the complaint does not state any facts upon which relief should be granted appellant for any damages, and, second, that if any grounds for relief were stated in said complaint, there is still no support in law or in fact for the demand that defendants be assessed punitive damages. The lower court could find no support for appellant's claim for those damages, and appellant's brief presents no legal authority for such claim. Respondents do not know of any court decision or statute which even indicates support for that position.

## CONCLUSION

The lower court correctly granted respondents' motion to dismiss the amended complaint on the ground that it fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. It is fitting and just that no such pleading be allowed to stand upon the court records of this state, and that appellant be required to file a proper complaint. Respondents respectfully urge that this Court affirm the Third District Court's Judgment dismissing the amended complaint without prejudice, and that respondents be awarded their costs of this appeal.